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3. O /13, DHS requested a hearing to establish that Respondent committed an 
IPV for trafficking $2,850.27 in FAP benefits over the period from 7/2011 through 
4/2012. 

 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
The Food Assistance Program (FAP) [formerly known as the Food Stamp program] is 
established by the Food Stamp Act of 1977, as amended, 7 USC 2011 to 2036a and is 
implemented by the federal regulations contained in 7 CFR 271.1 to 285.5. The 
Department (formerly known as the Family Independence Agency) administers FAP 
pursuant to MCL 400.10 and Mich Admin Code, R 400.3001 to .3015. Department 
policies are contained in the Department of Human Services Bridges Administrative 
Manual (BAM) and Department of Human Services Bridges Eligibility Manual (BEM) 
and Department of Human Services Reference Tables Manual (RFT). 
 
This hearing was requested by DHS, in part, to establish that Respondent committed an 
IPV. DHS may request a hearing to establish an IPV and disqualification. BAM 600 
(8/2012), p. 3. 
 
The client/authorized representative (AR) is determined to have committed an IPV by: 

• A court decision.  
• An administrative hearing decision. 
• The client signing a DHS-826, Request for Waiver of Disqualification Hearing or 

DHS-830, Disqualification Consent Agreement or other recoupment and 
disqualification agreement forms. Id. 

 
There is no evidence that Respondent signed a DHS-826 or DHS-830. There is also no 
evidence that a court decision found Respondent responsible for an IPV. Thus, DHS 
seeks to establish an IPV via administrative hearing. 
 
The Code of Federal Regulations defines an IPV. Intentional program violations shall 
consist of having intentionally: (1) made a false or misleading statement, or 
misrepresented, concealed or withheld facts; or (2) committed any act that constitutes a 
violation of the Food Stamp Act, the Food Stamp Program Regulations, or any State 
statute for the purpose of using, presenting, transferring, acquiring, receiving, 
possessing or trafficking of coupons, authorization cards or reusable documents used 
as part of an automated benefit delivery system. 7 CFR 273.16 (c). 
 
The hearing authority shall base the determination of intentional program violation on 
clear and convincing (emphasis added) which demonstrates that the household 
member(s) committed, and intended to commit, intentional program violation as defined 
in paragraph (c) of this section. 7 CFR 273.16 (e) (6). Clear and convincing evidence is 
evidence sufficient to result in a clear and firm belief that the proposition is true. See M 
Civ JI 8.01. It is a standard which requires reasonable certainty of the truth; something 
that is highly probable. Black's Law Dictionary 888 (6th ed. 1990). 
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DHS alleged that Respondent intentionally trafficked $2,850.27 in FAP benefits over the 
period of 7/2011 through 4/2012. The evidence against Respondent was circumstantial. 
Generally, circumstantial evidence is less persuasive than direct evidence, however, at 
some point, the circumstantial evidence may accumulate to meet the clear and 
convincing requirements for an IPV. The simplified trafficking argument against 
Respondent is as follows:  

• there exists a food store (for purposes of this decision, it shall be known as 
“Store”) where it was administratively established that food trafficking was 
sufficiently rampant to result in Store’s loss of accepting FAP benefit purchases;  

• Store has a limited supply of food where it is unlikely that someone would make 
regular and/or large purchases of food; 

• over a period of time, Respondent regularly spent FAP benefits at Store; 
• therefore, Respondent trafficked FAP benefits. 

 
DHS presented a letter (Exhibits 18-19) dated /12 from the United States 
Department of Agriculture. The letter stated that Store shall be permanently disqualified 
from the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP). SNAP is understood to 
be the federal equivalent of State of Michigan FAP benefits. The letter did not state that 
trafficking caused the disqualification but it was stated that eligibility for a trafficking civil 
money penalty was considered.  
 
DHS presented pictures (Exhibit 20) of Store including a drawn diagram of Store’s 
inside. The photos were in black and white but appeared to show a relatively small store 
with a small shelf area of food items and an area where hot food was prepared. The 
diagram of the Store was stated by the testifying specialist to have been made by a 
person investigating Store’s trafficking activities. The diagram showed the following 
areas: snack, various canned items, and a cooler area which included nuts. 
 
DHS presented Store FS Transactions by Month (Exhibit 22). It was noted that Store’s 
EBT transactions rapidly increased in quantity and amount in a relatively short amount 
of time. From 5/2010-3/2011, Store only had one month where the maximum EBT 
transaction exceeded $90. From 4/2011 through 5/2012, Store’s maximum transaction 
amount was never less than $199 and rose as high as $797 in 3/2012. Store’s EBT 
transactions also grew from less than 40 or less per month in 2010 to over 100 every 
month from 9/2011-1/2012. Store’s average monthly transaction grew from a high of 
$23.54 in 2010 to the following: $160.83 in 3/2012, $211.09 in 4/2012 and $257.63 in 
5/2012. For comparison, DHS presented reports (Exhibits 23-25) of an average EBT 
transaction for stores considered to be Store’s “type”. From 2010-2012, the average 
FAP transaction from a store of Store’s “type” never exceeded $10. 
 
DHS presented Respondent’s FAP transaction history with Store. The history verified 
that Respondent had 20 transactions with Store ranging in date from /11 through 

/12. The transactions totaled $2850.27. The average transaction was $142.51. Of 
the transactions, 14 were for more than $100. Of the 14 purchases exceeding $100, 6 
were for more than $200 including one which reached $301.67.  
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The testifying agent stated that she interviewed Respondent. The testifying agent stated 
that Respondent was asked what items were purchased from Store that could possibly 
amount to hundreds of dollars. The testifying agent stated that Respondent stated that 
she bought sausage sold which was sold by the pound and pizza dough. The testifying 
regulation agent noted that pizza crusts were available for $3.48 at a retail store (see 
Exhibits 30-31) and that Store did not sell any meats by the pound.  
 
Given the administrative proceedings against Store, the very limited food inventory of 
Store and Respondent’s improbably high dollar transactions with Store, it is found by 
clear and convincing evidence that Respondent trafficked FAP benefits at Store. The 
consequences of a trafficking finding must be addressed. 
 
The standard disqualification period is used in all instances except when a court orders 
a different period. Id., p. 13. DHS is to apply the following disqualification periods to 
recipients determined to have committed IPV: one year for the first IPV, two years for 
the second IPV and lifetime for the third IPV. Id. DHS established a basis for a one-year 
disqualification against Respondent. 
 
When a client group receives more benefits than they are entitled to receive, DHS must 
attempt to recoup the over-issuance (OI). BAM 700 (1/2011), p. 1. An OI is the amount 
of benefits issued to the client group in excess of what they were eligible to receive. Id. 
Recoupment is a DHS action to identify and recover a benefit OI. Id. 
 
DHS may pursue an OI whether it is a client caused error or DHS error. Id. at 5. Client 
and DHS error OIs are not pursued if the estimated OI amount is less than $125 per 
program. Id., p. 7. The present case concerns an alleged OI of $1401. Establishing 
whether DHS or Respondent was at fault for the OI is of no importance because DHS 
may seek to recoup the amount in either scenario. 
 
For over-issued benefits to clients who are no longer receiving benefits, DHS may 
request a hearing for debt establishment and collection purposes. The hearing decision 
determines the existence and collectability of a debt to the agency. BAM 725 (4/2011), 
p. 13. Over-issuance balances on inactive cases must be repaid by lump sum or 
monthly cash payments unless collection is suspended. Id. at 6. Other debt collection 
methods allowed by DHS regulations include: cash payments by clients, expunged FAP 
benefits, State of Michigan tax refunds and lottery winnings, federal salaries, federal 
benefits and federal tax refunds. Id. at 7. 
 
The OI amount for trafficking-related IPVs is the value of the trafficked benefits as 
determined by: 

• the court decision; 
• the individual’s admission; 
• documentation used to establish the trafficking determination, such as an 

affidavit from a store owner or sworn testimony from a federal or state 
investigator of how much a client could have reasonably trafficked in that store. 
This can be established through circumstantial evidence. 






